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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE
EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA

ALEXANDRIA DIVISION
' 012 JL2b Al 5h
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, )
) CLEE U3 Di5 ST Lo
Plaintiff, ) ALEX Do IR
) . /‘r
V. ) CIVIL ACTIONNO. [/ 2V § fo
) ) ,
CAPITAL ONE, N.A. and ) Jec (7DD
)
CAPITAL ONE BANK (USA), N.A., )
)
Defendants. )
)

COMPLAINT

The United States of America alleges as follows:

NATURE OF ACTION

1. This action is brought by the United States to enforce the provisions of the
Servicemembers Civil Relief Act (hereinafter “SCRA”), 50 U.S.C. App. §§ 501-597b,

JURISDICTION AND YENUE

2. This Court hgsjurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. § 1331, 28 U.S.C. § 1345,
and 50 U.S.C. App. § 597a.

3. Venue is proper in this judicial district under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because Defendants
Capital One N.A. and Capital One Bank (USA), N.A. are headquartered and conduct
business in the Eastern District of Virginia.

4. Defendant Capital One, N.A. is a national bank with its main office located at 1680
Capital One; Drive in McLean, Virginia, in the Eastern District of Virginia.

5. Defendant Capital One Bank (USA), N.A. is a national bank with its main office located

at 1680 Capital One Drive in McLean, Virginia, in the Eastern District of Virginia.



6. On or about February 17, 2012, Capital One Financial Corporation, the parent company
of Defendants, acquired ING Direct USA, which included certain account assets covered
by the SCRA. On May 2, 2012, Defendants acquired from HSBC Holding and began
servicing certain account assets that were covered by the SCRA.

SERVICEMEMBERS CIVIL RELIEF ACT VIOLATIONS

7. Atall times relevant to this action, Defendants serviced mortgages, motor vehicle finance
loans, home equity loans, consumer loans and lines of credit and credit card accounts.

8. From at least July 15, 2006 to November 21, 2011, Defendants have been responsible for
approving or denying requests for interest rate reductions made by military
servicemembers protected by the SCRA who had or have Capital One credit cards, motor
vehicle financing loans, mortgages, home equity loans, consumer loans and lines of
credit, and commercial lending accounts.

9. Defendants have engaged in a pattern or practice of violating Section 527(a)(1) of the
SCRA, 50 U.S.C. App. § 527, by providing insufficient benefits to SCRA-protected
servicemembers, and/or denying valid requests made by SCRA-protected
servicemembers to have the interest rates on credit cards, mortgages, home equity loans,
mdtor vehicle finance loans, consumer loans and lines of credit and commercial lending
accounts lowered to six percent per year during periods of military service on obligations
or liabilities that were incurred before the servicemembers entered military service,
because, among other reasons, the military orders provided to Defendants‘did not include

specific end dates for the period of military service.



10.

1.

12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

Defendants have engaged in a pattern or practice of violating Section 533(c) of the
SCRA, 50 U.S.C. App. § 533(c), by foreclosing on the mortgages of one or more SCRA-
protected servicemembers without a court order.

Defendants have engaged in a pattern or practice of violating Section 532(a)(1) of the
SCRA, 50 U.S.C. App. § 532(a)(1), by repossessing the motor vehicles of SCRA-
protected servicemembers without court orders.

Defenciants have engaged in a pattern or practice of violating Section 521 of the SCRA,
50 U.S.C. App. § 521 by obtaining default judgments against SCRA-protected
servicemembers without first having filed accﬁrate affidavits of military service showing
nécessary facts to support the affidavits.

The servicemembers who were charged interest in excess of six percent per year in
violation 6f the SCRA are aggrieved persons and have suffered damages as a result of
Defendants’ conduct.

The servicemembers whose mortgages were foreclosed upon without a court order in
violation of the SCRA are aggrieved persons aﬁd have suffered damages as a result of
Defendants’ conduct.

The servicemembers whose motor vehicles were repossesse;d without court orders in
violation of the SCRA are aggrieved persons and have suffered damages as a result of
Defendants’ conduct.

The servicemembers from whom Defendants obtained default judgménts without first
having filed accurate affidavits of military service showing necessary facts to support the
affidavits in violation of the SCRA are aggrieved persons and have suffered damages as a

result of Defendants" conduct.



17. Defendants’ conduct was intentional, willful, and taken in disregard for the rights of

servicemembers.

WHEREFORE, the United States prays that the Court enter an ORDER that:

1. Declares that Defendants’ conduct violated the SCRA;

2. Enjoins Defendants, their agents, employees, and successors, and all other persons and
entities in active concert or participation with them, with respect to any financial products
serviced by them, from: -

a. charging interest on the loan obligations of SCRA-protected servicemembers in
excess of six percent per year, in violation of Section 527 of the SCRA, 50U.S.C.
App. § 527;

b. foreclosing on the mortgages of SCRA-protected servicemembers without court
orders, in violation of Section 533 of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. App. § 533;

c. repossessing the motor vehicles of SCRA-protected servicemembers without court
orders, in violation of Section 532 of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. App. § 532;

d. obtaining default judgments against SCRA-protected servicemembers without first
filing accurate affidavits of rﬁilitary service shévving necessary facts to support the
affidavits, in violation of Section 521 of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. App. § 521;

e. failing or refusing to take such affirmative steps as may be necessary to restore, as
nearly as practicable, each identifiable victim of Defendants’ illegal conduct to the
position he or she would have Been in but for that illegal conduct; and

f. failing or refusing to take such affirmative steps as may be necessary to prevent the
recurrence of any illegal conduct in the future and to eliminate, to the extent

practicable, the effects of Defendants’ illegal conduct;



. Awards appropriate monetary damages to each identifiable victim of Defendants’

violations of the SCRA; and

. Assesses civil penalties against Defendants in order to vindicate the public interest,

pursuant to 50 U.S.C. App. § 597(b)(3).



The United States further prays for such additional relief as the interests of justice may

require.

NEIL H. MACBRIDE
United States Attorney
Eastern District of Virginia
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KEVIN J. MIKOLASHEK

Assistant United States Attorney

United States Attorney’s Office

Eastern District of Virginia
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Fax: (703) 299-3983
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR‘FHE— ¥ <&
EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA

ALEXANDRIA DIVISION
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, ) GBI GL2h A5
Plaintif )
) o
v. ) CIVIL ACTIONNO. _/* /2 ¢|/f>4
: )
CAPITAL ONE, N.A. and )
)
CAPITAL ONE BANK (USA), N.A,, )
)
Defendants. )
)
CONSENT ORDER
I. INTRODUCTION
1. This Consent Order resolves the allegations contained in the United States’

Complaint that Defendants Capital One, N.A. and Capital One Bank (USA), N.A.
(collectively “Capital One” or “Defendants™) violated the Servicemembers Civil
Relief Act (“SCRA”), 50 U.S.C. app. §§ 501-597b, when, from at least July 15,
2006 to November 21, 2011, they: 1) wrongly denied certain written requests made
by “SCRA-protected servicemembers’.’ ! to have the interest rate on their credit
cards and motor vehicle finance loans lowered to six percent (6%) per annum; 2)
provided insufficient benefits on certain accounts that were enrolled after written
requests were received from SCRA-protected servicemembers; 3) foreclosed on
certain mortgages of SCRA-protected servicemembers without court orders; 4)

repossessed certain SCRA-protected servicemembers’ motor vehicles without court

! For purposes of this Consent Order, “[t]he term “SCRA-protected sevicemember” includes
servicemembers as defined in 50 U.S.C. App. § 511(1) and (2).



orders; and 5) obtained default judgments on debts owed by SCRA-protected
servicemembers on credit cards, mortgage foreclosures, and/or motor vehicle
finance loans without filing accurate affidavits of milit.ary service.

Defendant Capital One, N.A. is a national bank with its main office located at 1680
Capital One Drive in McLean, Virginia, in the Eastern District of Virginia.
Defendant Capital One Bank (USA), N.A. is a national bank with its main office
located at 1680 Capital One Driye in McLean, Virginia, in the Eastern District of
Virginia.

On February 17, 2012, Capital One Financial Corporation acquired ING Direct
USA, which included certain account assets covered by the SCRA, and on May 2,
2012, Capital One N.A. and Capital One Bank (USA), N.A. acquired certain
account assets from HSBC Holdings covered by the SCRA. As used in this
Consent Order, “Accounts” refers to Capital One credit cards, mortgages, home
equity loans, motor vehicle finance loans, consumer loans and lines of credit
accounts, and commercial lending accounts, including certain accounts acquired
from éhevy Chase Bank, N.A., formerly known as Chevy Chase Bank, FSB;
GreenPoint Mortgage Funding, Inc.; North Fork Bank; Hibernia National Bank; and
Onyx Acceptance Corporation. “Accounts” excludes the recently-acquired HSBC
accounts, which are referred to as “HSBC Accounts,” and the recently-acquired
accounts included in the ING Direct USA acquisition, which are referred to as
“ING Accounts.” |

From at least July 15, 2006 to November 21, 2011, Defendants have been

responsible for approving or denying requests for interest rate reductions made by



SCRA-protected servicemembers who had or have Capital One credit cards, motor
vehicle financing loans, mortgages, home equity loans, consumer loans and lines of
credit, and commercial lending accounts. Defendants also have been responsible
for foreclosing on mortgages entered into by SCRA-protected servicemembers,
repossessing motor vehicles from SCRA-protected servicemembers, and obtaining
default judgments against SCRA-protected serviclemembers without filing accurate
affidavits of military service.

In its Complaint, the United States alleges that Defendants engaged in a pattern or
practice of violating Section 527(a)(1) of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. app. § 527(a)(1), by
denying written requests made by SCRA-protected servicemembers to have the
interest rates on Accounts lowered to six percent (6%) per annum when, among
other reasons, the military orders provided to Defendants did not include a specific
end date for the period of military service stated in the form of a day, month, and
year. The Complaint also alleges that Defeﬁdants engaged in a pattern or practice
of violating: Section 532(a)(1) of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. app. § 532(a)(1), by
repossessing the motor vehicles of SCRA-protected servicemembers without a court
order; Section 533(c) of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. app. § 533(c), by foreclosing on the
properties of SCRA-protected servicemembers without a court order; and Section
521 of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. app. § 521, by obtaining default judgments against
SCRA-protected servicemembers without first having filed an accurate affidavit of
military service.

This Consent Order covers all Accounts, HSBC Accounts, and ING Accounts.



10.

Capital One has cooperated fully with the United States’ investigation in this
matter. Capital One began and completed exiensive work with an independent
consultant approved by the United States Department of Justice (“D0OJ”) to review
its Accounts and identify the nature and scope of its SCRA problems. This
independent consultant has shared those results with DOJ. Through its review,
Capital One has identified victims of SCRA-related violations involving the
Accounts since July 15, 2006, and has agreed to make those individuals whole and
provide them with additional compensation, for a total of approximately $7,000,000
in compensation to identified victims, and provide an additional $5,000,000 per
Paragraph 48 of this Consent Order. Additionally, Capital One agrees to pay
additional amounts, to be determined pursuant to Paragraphs 54, 56, 58, 61, 62, and
63, should there be any SCRA-related violations involving the HSBC Accounts or
ING Accounts. Capital One also has voluntarily adopted numerous SCRA Policies
and Procedures that will include benefits above and beyond those required by the
SCRA or by this Consent Order. Such benefits include extending a 4% interest rate
to certain servicemembers and giving an additional one-year grace period before de-
enrolling servicemembers from the reduced interest rate program.

The United States and Defendants agree that the Court has jurisdiction over the
subject matter of this case pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, 28 U.S.C. § 1345, and 50
U.S.C. app. § 597(a).

The United States and Defendants agree that, to #void costly and protracted
litigation, the claims against Capital One should be resolved without further

proceedings or an evidentiary hearing. Therefore, as indicated by the signatures



appearing below, the United States and Defendants agree to the entry of this
Consent Order.
It is hereby ORDERED, ADJUDGED and DECREED:
II. INJUNCTIVE RELIEF?

11.  Defendants, their officers, employees, agents, representatives, assigns, successors-
in-interest, and all persons and entities in active concert or participation with
Defendants are hereby enjoined 'from charging inter.est3 on Accounts in excess of
six percent (6%) per annum during a period of military service on any obligations
incurred prior to military service* for which a servicemember requests SCRA
protection, as reqﬁired by Section 527 of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. app. § 527.° In the
case of interest rates charged on mortgagés and home equity loans, the prohibitions
described in this Paragraph shall be extended for a period of one (1) year following
the end of the period of military service.

12. Defendants, th¢ir officers, employees, agents, representatives, assigns, successors-
in-interest, and all persons and entitieé in active concert or participation with
Defendants are hereby enjoined from foreclosing on the mortgages of SCRA-

protected servicemembers, provided the mortgages were originated before the

2 Nothing in this Consent Order shall preclude Defendants from offering greater protections to
servicemembers than those afforded by the Consent Order or the SCRA.

3 For purposes of this Consent Order, “[t]he term ‘interest’ includes service charges, renewal
charges, fees, or any other charges (except bona fide insurance) with respect to an obligation or
liability.” 50 U.S.C. app. § 527(d)(1). ,

* For purposes of this Consent Order, the term “military service” is defined by Section 511(2) of
the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. app. § 511(2).

> Nothing in this Consent Order shall prohibit Defendants from seeking a court order pursuant to
Section 527(c) of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. app. § 527(c), should it wish to obtain relief from the
requirements of Section 527 of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. app. § 527.

5



13.

14.

15.

period of the servicemembers’ military service, during the servicemember’s
military service and nine (9) months thereafter, without a court order.

Defendants, their officers, employees, agents, representatives, assigns, successors-
in-interest, and all persons and entities in active concert or participation with
Defendants are hereby enjoined from repossessing recreational and non-recreational
motor vehicles} of SCRA-protected servicemembers without a court order, during
the servicemember’s military service, provided the servicemember paid a deposit or
installment on the contract before entering military service..

Defendants, their officers, employees, agents, representatives, assigns, successors-
in-interest, and all persons and entities in active concert or participation with
Defendants are hereby enjoined from seeking default judgments against SCRA-
protected servicemembers without first checking the Department of Defense
Manpower Data Center (“DMDC”) website to determine whether the individual on
whose debt Defendants seek a default judgment is an SCRA-prote_cted
servicemember, and, for those who are, filing an accurate affidavit of military
service and attaching to the affidavit the most recent military status report from the
DMDC or a copy of the military orders.

ITII. COMPLIANCE WITH THE SCRA
AND SCRA POLICIES AND PROCEDURES

Within thirty (30) calendar days of the date of entry of this Consent Order, Capital
One shall develop SCRA Policies and Procedures for Interest Rates to ensure that it
does not charge interest on Accounts, HSBC Accounts, or ING Accounts in excess
of six percent (6%) per annum during a period of military service, where the

obligation was incurred before military service and for which a servicemember



requests SCRA protection, as required by Section 527 of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. app.

§ 527.. For all mortgage loans and home equity loans, the protections of this

Section shall be extended for a period of one (1) year after the conclusion of the

term of military service. The Policies and Procedures shall contain the following

provisions:

a.

Defendants shall accept servicemembers’ written requests for reduced
interest rates pursuant to the SCRA made via facsimile, United States
Postal Service First Class Mail (postage pre-paid), or overnight mail.
Within six (6) months after entry of this Cénsent Order, Defendants shall
also accept servicemembers’ requests for reduced interest rates pursuant to
the SCRA via in person delivery at any Capital One full-éervice branch
location or via an online intake form. If a servicemember fails to provide
a copy of military orders establishing that he or 'she is eligible for the
SCRA’s interest rate cap, Defendants shall request additional information
in accordance with Paragraph 15(c) below before making a final
determination that the servicemember is not, in fact, eligible for the
interest rate reduction. Defendants shall also designate customer service
representatives who have been specifically trained on the protections of
the SCRA and who are responsible for the intake and fulfillment of benefit
requests across all Accounts, HSBC Accounts, and ING Accounts that the
servicemember has with Defendants. Defendants shall also ensure that
they have a designated telephone number at which serviéemembers may

reach the designated Capital One SCRA customer service representatives



who will address questions or concerns regarding requests for reduced
interest rates pursuant to the SCRA.

When Defendants receive a request from a servicemember for a reduced
interest rate pursuant to the SCRA, within two (2) billing cycles, they shall
review all Accounts, HSBC Accounts, and ING Accounts held by the
requesting servicemember with Defendants, regardless of type of
obligatioh, as well as the interest rate(s) charged on those accounts, and
shall determine the servicemember’s eligibility for the reduced interest
rate on all such Accounts, HSBC Accounts, and ING Accounts. If the
servicemember is determined to be eligible, the reduced interest rate will
be appiied retroactively to the first day of eligibility.

In the event that a servicemember fails to provide a copy of military orders
entitling him or her to the interest rate cép With his or her request for an
interest rate reduction pursuant to the SCRA, Defendants shall check the
DMDC website to confirm eligibility. Should Defendants continue to
question an applicant’s eligibility, Defendants shall request, in writing, a
copy of such orders. Defendants shall seek only military orders
identifying the béginning date of the applicable period of military service
from the requesting servicemember. Defendants shall not require that any
military order submitted have a specific end date for the period of military
service.

Within twenty-one (21) calendar days after determining that a

servicemember is not eligible for an interest rate reduction pursuant to the



SCRA, Defendants shall notify the servicemember in writing of the
reason(s) for the denial. Defendants shall ensure that such servicemember
is given an opportunity to provide additional documentation or
information to establish eligibility for the reduced interest rate.

e. Defendants shall be permitted to raise the interest rate on eligible
servicemember’s Accounts, HSBC Accounts, and ING Accounts to an
amount higher than six percent (6%) per annum only after Defendants
access the DMDC website, and the information on the DMDC website
shows that the servicemember is not in military service. ¢

16.  Within thirty (30) calendar days of the date of entry of this Consent Order, Capital
One shall develop SCRA Policies and Procedures for Mortgage Foreclosures in
compliance with Section 533 of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. app. § 533 and Section 521 of
the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. app. § 521. These policies ‘and procedures must address:

a. In addition to any other reviews Defendants may perform to assess
eligibility under the SCRA, (i) before referring a loan for foreclosure, (ii)
within seven (7) business days before a foreclosure sale, and (iii) the later
of (A) promptly after a foreclosure sale or (B) within three (3) business
days before the regularly scheduled end of any redemption period,
Defendants will determine whether the secured property is owned by a

servicemember covered by the SCRA by (1) reviewing any orders they

S In the case where an SCRA-protected servicemember provides Defendants with valid military
orders that include an end date of military service inconsistent with that appearing on the DMDC
website, Defendants shall not raise the interest rate on the servicemember’s account until the
later end date has expired. In the case of mortgage and home equity loans, the period of benefits
is extended by one (1) year pursuant to Section 527(a)(1)(A) of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. app. §
527(a)(1)(A).



have received from borrowers and (2) searching the DMDC for evidence
of SCRA eligibility by either (a) last name and social security number or
(b) last name and date of birth.

If Defendants pursue a foreclosure action in court and the borrower fails to
answer the action, Defendants and/or their agent will file a military
affidavit with the court as required by Section 521(b)(1)(A). Before
seeking entry of default, Defendants and/or their agent will search the
DMDC and review information in their possession or control for orders to
determine if the borrower is SCRA-protected or was SCRA-protected at
any time during the preceding nine (9) months. If Defendants and/or their
agent learns that the borrower is SCRA-protected or was SCRA-protected
at the time of default, Defendants and/or their agent will: 1) file an
affidavit stating that “the defendant is in military service” or “was in
military service at the time of default” before seeking default judgment;
and 2) attach the most recent military status report from the DMDC or a
copy of the military orders to the affidavit.

If Defendants initiate and pursue a waiver under a written agreement, as
provided in Section 517 of the SCRA, Defendants must initiate the waiver
process with the servicemember at least thirty (30) days in advance of any
anticipated foreclosure sale date by sending a notice and a copy of the
proposed waiver to the servicemember. To the extent Defendants exercise
this right, Defendants shall use a notice in the form attached as Exhibit A-

1 and a waiver compliant with the SCRA and approved by DOJ. With

10



17.

prior approval of counsel for the United States, this provision may be
modified based on changes in servicing requirements from government-

sponsored entities or the Department of Housing and Urban Development.

Within thirty (30) calendar days of the date of entry of this Consent Order, Capital

One shall develop SCRA Policies and Procedures for Motor Vehicle Repossessions

in compliance with Section 532(a) of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. app. § 532(a) and

Section 521 of the SCRA, 50 U.S.C. app. § 521. These policies and procedures

must address:

a.

In addition to any other reviews Defendants may perform to assess
eligibility under the SCRA, (i) before referring a recreational or non-
recreational motor vehicle financing loan for repossession, (ii) within
seven (7) business days before repossession, and (iii) promptly after notice
of a repossession of a motor vehicle, Defendants will determine whether
the secured property is owned by a servicemember covered by the SCRA
by (1) reviewing any orders they have received from borrowers and (2)
searching the DMDC for evidence of SCRA eligibility by either (a) last
name and social security number or (b) last name and date of birth.

If Defendants pursue a repossession action in court and the borrower fails
to answer the action, Defendants and/or their agent will file an affidavit of
military service with the court as required by Section 521(b)(1)(A).
Before seeking entry of default, Defendants and/or their agent will search
the DMDC and review information in their possession or control for

orders to determine if the borrower is SCRA-protected. If Defendants

11



18.

and/or their agent learn that the borrower is SCRA-protected or was
SCRA-protected at the time of default, Defendants and/or their agent will:
1) file an affidavit stating that “the defendant is in military service” or
“was in military service at the time of default” before seeking default
judgment; and 2) attach the most recent military status report from the
bMDC or a copy of the military orders to the affidavit.

If Defendants initiate and pursue a waiver under a written agreement as
provided in Section 517 of the SCRA, Defendants must initiate the waiver
process with the servicemember at least ten (10) days in advance of any
anticipated repossession by sending a notice and a copy of the proposed
waiver to the servicemember. To the extent Defendants exercise this right,
Defendants shall utilize a notice in the form attached as Exhibit A-1 and a

waiver in the form attached as Exhibit A-2.

Within thirty (30) calendar days of the date of entry of this Consent Order, Capital
One shall develop SCRA Policies and Procedures for Default Judgments to ensure
that they do not obtain default judgments on debts owed by SCRA-protected
servicemembers for credit card loans, home equity loans, motor vehicle ﬁnancing
loans, consumer loans and lines of credit, and commercial lending accounts without
first filing an accurate affidavit of military service, as required by Section 521 of the

SCRA, 50 U.S.C. App. § 521. These policies and procedures must address:

In addition to any other reviews Defendants may perform, after a borrower
fails to answer and prior to seeking entry of default, Defendants and/or

their agent will search the DMDC and review information in their

12



19.

possession or control for orders to determine if the borrower is SCRA-
protected.

If Defendants and/or their agent learn that.the borrower is SCRA-protected
or was SCRA-protected at the time of default, Defendants and/or their
agent will: 1) file an affidavit stating that “the defendant is in military
service” or “was in military service at the time of default” prior to seeking
default judgment; and 2) attach the most recent military status report from
the DMDC or a copy of the military orders to the affidavit.

If Defendants initiate and pursue a waiver under a written agreement, as
provided in Section 517 of the SCRA, Defendants must initiate the waiver
process with the servicemember at least thirty (30) days in advance of any
anticipated default judgment by sending a notice and a copy of the
proposed waiver to the servicemember. To the extent Defendants exercise
this right, Defendants shall use a notice in the form attached as Exhibit A-

1 and a waiver compliant with the SCRA and approved by DOJ.

No later than thirty (30) calendar days after the date of entry of this Consent Order,
Defendants shall provide a copy of the proposed SCRA Policies and Procedures
required under Paragraphs 15, 16, 17, and 18 to counsel for the United States.” The
United States shall respohd to Defendants’ proposed SCRA Policies and Procedures
within forty-five (45) calendar days of their receipt. If the United States objects to

any part of Defendants’ proposed SCRA Policies and Procedures described in

7 All materials required by this Consent Order to be sent to counsel for the United States shall be
sent by commercial overnight delivery addressed as follows: Chief, Housing and Civil
Enforcement Section, Civil Rights Division, U.S. Department of Justice, 1800 G Street, N.W.,,
7" Floor, Washington, DC 20006, Attn: DJ 216-79-12.

13



20.

21.

Paragraphs 15, 16, 17, 'and 18, the parties shall confer to resolve their differences.
If the parties cannot resolve their differences after good faith efforts to do so, either
party may bring the dispute to this Court for resolution. Defendants shall
implement the SCRA Policies and Procedures within ten (10) calendar days of
approval by the United States or the Court.

If at any time during the term of this Consent Order Defendants propose to
materially change their SCRA Policies and Procedures described herein, they shall
first provide a copy of the proposed changes to counsel for the United States. If the
United States does not deliver written objections to Defendants within forty-five
(45) calendar days of receiving the proposed changes, the changes may be
implemented. If the United States makes any objections to the proposed changes
within the forty-five (45)-day period, the specific changes to which the United

States objects shall not be implemented until the objections are resolved.

IV. TRAINING
Defendants shall provide SCRA compliance training to any management officials
or other employees who: (a) provide customer service to servicemembers in
connection with the servicing of their Accounts, HSBC Accounts, or ING
Accounts; (b) have significant involvement in servicing Accounts, HSBC Accounts
or ING Accounts, including setting the rates or fees; or (c) have significant
involvement in foreclosure or repossession proceedings, (hereinafter together
“covered Capital One employees™) within sixty (60) calendar days after
Défendants’ new training program is approved by the United States or the Court

pursuant to Paragraph 22, below. Training will be specific to the employee’s

14



22.

23.

responsibilities associated with the obligation being serviced so the covered Capital
One employees will receive training a;bout specific SCRA provisions and
applications pertinent to the employee’s position. Defendants shall provide to each
covered Capital One employee: (a) training on the terms of Defendants’ SCRA
Policies and Procedures specific to the employee’s responsibilities associated with
that employee’s position; and (b) the contact information for the SCRA customer |
service representatives described above in Paragraph 15(a).

Within forty-five (45) calendar days of the United States’ approval of the SCRA
Policies and Procedures pursuant to Paragraphs 15, 16, 17, and 18, Defendants shall
provide to the United States the curriculum, instructions, and any written materials
included in the training required by this Section. The United States shall have
forty-five (45) calendar days from receipt of these documents to raise any
objections to Defendants’ training materials, and, if it raises any, the parties shall
confer to fesolve their differences. In the event they are unable to do so, either
party may bring the dispute to this Court fo; resolution.

The covered Capital One employees (described above in Paragraph 21) may
undergo the training required by this Section via live training, computer-based
training, web-based training, or via interactive digital media within sixty (60)
calendar days from the date the parties agree, or the Court decides, on the substance
of the training materials (described above in Paragraph 22). If the training is
conducted in any format other than live training, Defendants shall ensure that

employees and agents have the opportunity to have their questions answered by a

~ company contact that Defendants identify as having SCRA expertise within two (2)
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business days of the training. Any expenses associated with the training program
required by this Section shall be borne by Defendants.

24.  During the term of this Consent Order, Defendants shall provide annual SCRA
training, as described in Paragraph 21, to covered Capital One employees with
respect to their responsibilities and obligations under the SCRA, the SCRA Policies
and Procedures, and the terms of this Consent Order. The training may be
conducted by employees identified as Capital One training professionals with the
supervision of counsel. Defendants shall certify in writing to counsel for the United
States that the covered Capital One employees successfully completed this training.

25.  Defendants shall secure a signed statement in the form attached as Exhibit B® from
each covered Capital One employee at their SCRA compliance training
acknowledging that he or she has received, read, and understands the Consent Order
and the SCRA Policies and Procedures specific to the employee’s responsibilities
associated with the obligation being serviced, has had the opportunity to have his Aor
her questions about these documents answered, and agrees to abide by them.
Defendants shall also follow these training procedures for each of their employees
who subsequently becomes a covered Capital One employee within thirty (30)
calendar days of his or her hiring, promotion or transfer. For the duration of this
Consent Order, copies of those signed statements shall be provided to the United

States upon request.

® The electronic signature of a covered Capital One employee shall be deemed satisfactory for
purposes of verifying completion of the training required under this Consent Order.
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V. COMPENSATION FOR ACCOUNTS

A. Violations of Sections 533 and 521 of the SCRA related to completed foreclosures on SCRA-

protected servicemembers:

26.  Defendants have engaged the services of an independent consultant acceptable to
DO]J that has begun to review completed foreclosures. To the extent they have not
already done so, the independent consultant will review all foreclosures completed
from July 15, 2006 to November 21, 2011, to evaluate whether the completed
foreclosures were in compliance with Sections 533 and 521 of the SCRA. The
independent consultant shall submit any results not previously provided to DOJ
within thirty (30) calendar days of entry of this Consent Order and provide detailed
information on the borrowers’ periods of military service, dates of foreclosure, and
Defendants’ records (if applicable) for foreclosures determined to be related to any
SCRA-protected servicemember from July 15, 2006 to November 21, 2011. Based
on the information gathered by the independent consulfant, information submitted
by Defendants, and DOJ’s independent investigation, DOJ shall evaluate the
determinations made by the independent consultant. In the event Defendants
disagree with DOJ’s determination, Defendants shall be afforded thirty (30)
calendar days to produce to DOJ evidence of compliance, which DOJ shall consider
in good faith,

27.  Using the methodologies developed by the independent consultant, Defendants will
review all foreclosures completed from November 22, 2011 to the date of this
Consent Order. Defendants shall submit all results for foreclosures determined to

be related to any SCRA-protected servicemember during this time period within
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28.

one hundred eighty (180) calendar days of entry of this Consent Order and provide
the same detailed information as described in Paragraph 26. Based on the
information gathered by Defendants and DOJ’s independent investigation, DOJ
shall evaluate the determinations made by Capital One. In the event Defendants
disagree with DOJ’s determination, Defendants shall be afforded thirty (30)
calendar days to produce to DOJ evidence of compliance, which DOJ shall consider
in good faith.

Where DOJ determines that a foreclosure was not in compliance with the SCRA,
Defendants shall compensate the borrowers (i.e., any individual(s) who signed the
note with respect to a foreclosed property) who execute the Release at Exhibit C-2
and the Declaration at Exhibit C-3 by providing:

a. an amount of $125,000.00 to the servicemember-borrower;

b. any lost equity in the foreclosed property, as calculated by subtracting any
outstanding principal, interest, and other amounts owing by the borrowers
(excluding any fees associated with foreclosure), plus any junior liens at
the time of foreclosure and any disbursements made to the servicemember
or a third party other than a junior lien holder from the proceeds of the
foreclosure sale (exclusive of any fees associated with the foreclosure)
from either:

i. a contemporaneous appraisal reflecting the value of the home at

the time of foreclosure;
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ii. a Broker Price Opinion (“BPO”) or other desktop determination of
property valuation that results in property valuations reasonably
consistent’ with those contained in contemporaneous appraisals; or

iii. a retroactive appraisal reflecting the value of the home at the time
of foreclosure; and
c. interest accrued on this lost equity, calculated from the date of the
foreclosure sale until the date payment is issued, at the rate set forth in 28
U.S.C. § 1961."

29.  While the amount described in subsection (a) of Paragraph 28 shall be paid entirely
to the servicemember-borrower on the note securing the mortgage, the amounts
described in subsections (b) and (c) of Paragraph 28 shall be distributed equally
among all owners (including non-servicemember owners) on the deed. In cases
where Defendants have already taken remedial actions with respect to a foreclosure
which DOJ detehnines did not comply with Sections 533 or 521 of the SCRA, DOJ
shall consider such remedial actions and adjust the compensation to be awarded to
the servicemember-borrower or mortgagor. u

30.  After DOJ’s determinations as provided in Paragraphs 26 and 27, Defendants must

notify each identified servicemember or co-borrower (using best efforts to locate

® Before Defendants may rely on a BPO or desktop determination for purposes of this subsection,
Defendants must first obtain DOJ approval that the methodology for the BPO or desktop
determination results in property valuations reasonably consistent with a contemporaneous
a(Ppraisal. DOJ shall not unreasonably withhold such approval.

19 The independent consultant shall calculate the lost equity and interest described herein as part
of its review. '

! In determining the amount of compensation due to any servicemember or co-borrower
pursuant to Paragraph 28, DOJ will credit any monetary compensation or other remediation
efforts, including returning the home to the borrower, already provided to any servicemember or
co-borrower for alleged compliance issues pursuant to Sections 533 or 521 of the SCRA and
arising from the same mortgage.
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each person) by letter (using Exhibit C-1 or a modified version mutually agreeable
to Defendants and DOJ) within forty-five (45) calendar days of DOJ’s
determination. Any letters returned with forwarding addresses must be promptly
mailed to the forwarding address. Defendants shall issue and mail compensation
checks no later than twenty-one (21) calendar days é.fter receipt of the signed
Release at Exhibit C-2 and Declaration at C-3 from the servicemember or co-
borrower aggrieved person. Every six (6) months for a period of two (2) years
following. entry of this Consent Order, Defendants shall provide DOJ with an
accounting of all releases received, checks issued (including copies of issued
checks), credit entries repaired (as provided in Paragraph 65), and notifications
without responses or that were returned as undeliverable. Any uncashed checks

will be reported by Capital One in accordance with state unclaimed property laws.

B. Violations of Section 532 and 521 of the SCRA relating to repossessions of motor vehicles:

31.

Defendants have engaged the services of an independent consultant acceptable to
DOJ that has begun to review completed motor vehicle repossessions. To the
extent it has not already done so, the independent consultant will review all motor
vehicle repossession actions completed from July 15, 2006 to Noverﬁber 21,2011,
to evaluate whether the repossessions were in compliance with Sections 532 and
521 of the SCRA. The independent consultant shall submit any results not
previously provided to DOJ within ninety (90) calendar days of entry of this
Consent Order and provide detailed information on the borrowers’ periods of
military service, dates of repossessions, and Defendants’ rec;ords (if applicable) for

all repossessions related to SCRA-protected servicemembers from July 15, 2006 to
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32.

33.

November 21, 2011. Based on the information gathered by the independent
consultant, information submitted by Defendants, and DOJ’s independent
investigation, DOJ shall evaluate the determinations made by the independent
consuitant on all accounts. In the event Defendants disagree with DOJ’s
determination, Defendants shall be afforded thirty (30) calendar days to produce
evidence of compliance to DOJ, which DOJ shall consider in good faith.

Using the methodologies developed by the independent consultant, Defendants will
review all repossessions completed from November 22, 2011 to the date of this
Consent Order. Defendants shall submit all results for repossessions determined to
be related to any SCRA-protected servicemember during this time period within
one hundred eighty (180) calendar days of entry of this Consent Order and provide
the same detailed information as described in Paragraph 31. Based on the
information gathered by Defendants and DOJ’s independent investigation, DOJ

shall evaluate the determinations made by Capital One. In the event Defendants

- disagree with DOJ’s determination, Defendants shall be afforded thirty (30)

calendar days to produce to DOJ evidence of compliance, which DOJ shall consider
in good faith.

Where DOJ determines that a completed motor vehicle repossession was not in
cdmpliance with the SCRA, Defendants shall compensate the borrowers (i.e., any
individual(s) who signed the note with respect to a repossessed motor vehicle) \;vho
execute the Release at Exhibit C-2 and the Declaration at Exhibit C-4 by providing:

a. an amount of $10,000 to the servicemember-borrower;
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34.

be awarded to the servicemember-borrower.

any lost equity in the repossessed motor vehicle, as calculated by:
subtrabting any outstanding principal, interest, and other amounts owing
by the borrowers (excluding any fees associated with repossession), plus
any liens at the time of repossession and any disbursements made to the
servicemember or a third party other than a lien holder from the proceeds
of the repossession sale (exclusive of any fees associated with the
repossession) from the retail value of the motor vehicle at the time of
repossession as identified in the National Automobile Dealers Association
(“NADA”) Guide; and

interest accrued on this lost equity, calculated from the date of the
repossessioﬁ sale until the date payment is issued, at the rate set forth in 28

U.S.C. §1961.12

While the amount described in subsection (a) shall be paid entirely to the.
servicemember-borrower on the note securing the motor vehicle, the amounts
described in subsections (b) and (c) shall be distributed equally among all owners
(including non-servicemember owners) on the title to the motor vehicle. In cases
where Defendants have already taken remedial actions with respect to a
repossession, which DOJ determines did not comply with Sections 532 or 521 of

the SCRA, DOJ shall consider such remedial actions and adjust the compensation to

13

"2 The independent consultant shall calculate the lost equity and interest described herein as part
of its review.

1> In determining the amount of compensation due to any servicemember or co-borrower
pursuant to Paragraph 33, DOJ will credit any monetary compensation or other remediation
efforts, including returning the motor vehicle to the borrower, already provided to any
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35.

After DOJ’s determination, as provided in Paragraphs 31 and 32, Defendants must

notify each identified servicemember or co-borrower (using best efforts to locate

each person) by letter (using Exhibit C-1 or a modified version mutually agreeable

to Defendants and DOJ) within forty-five (45) calendar days of DOJ’s
determination. Any letters returned with forwarding addresses must be promptly
mailed to the forwarding address. Defendants shall issue and mail compensation
checks no later than twenty-one (21)) calendar days after receipt of a signed Release
at Exhibit C-2 and Declaration at C-4 from the servicemember or co-borrower
aggrieved person. Every six (6) months for é period of two (2) years 'following
entry of this Consent Order, Defendants shall provide DOJ with an accounting of all
releases received, checks issued (including copies of issued checks), credit entries
repaired (as provided in Paragraph 65), and notifications without responses or that
were returned as undeliverable. Any uncashed checks will be reported by Capital

One in accordance with state unclaimed property laws.

C. Violations of Section 521 of the SCRA relating to default judgments for debts owed on credit

cards, motor vehicle financing loans, home equity loans, consumer loans and lines of credit,

and/or commercial lending accounts:

36.

Defendants have engaged the services of an independent consultant acceptable to
DO that has begun to review their default judgment proceedings related to their
Accounts. To the extent they have not already done so, the independent consultant
will review all default judgment proceedings (other than credit card default

judgment proceedings) either completed from July 15, 2006 to November 21, 2011,

servicemember or co-borrower for alleged compliance issues pursuant to Sections 532 or 521 of
the SCRA and arising from the same motor vehicle loan.
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37.

to evaluate whether the judgments were obtained against SCRA-protected
servicemembers during periods of military duty and, if so, whether those judgments
were in compliance with Section 521 of the SCRA. The independent consultant
shall submit any results not previously provided to DOJ within thirty (30) calendar
days of entry of this Consent Order and provide detailed information on the
borrowers’ periods of military service, dates of judgments, and Defendants’ records
(if applicable) for all default judgments (other than credit card default judgments)
dete@ned to involve SCRA-protected servicemembers from July 15, 2006 to
November 21,2011. Based on the information gathered by the independent
consultant, information submitted by Defendants, and DOJ’s independent
investigation, DOJ shall evaluate the determinations made by the independent
consultant whether or not a completed default judgment was obtained against an
SCRA-protected servicemember during a period of military service and, if so,
whether it was in compliance with the SCRA. In the event Defendants disagree
with DOJ’s determination, Defendants shall be afforded thifty (30) calendar days to
produce evidence of compliance to DOJ, Which DOJ shall consider in good faith.
Using the methodologies developed by the independent consultant, Defendants will
review all default judgment proceedings (including credit card default judgment
proceedings) obtained from November 22, 2011 to the date of this Consent Order to
evaluate whether the judgments were obtained against SCRA-protected

servicemembers during periods of military duty and, if so, whether those judgments

.were in compliance with Section 521 of the SCRA. Defendants shall submit all

results within ninety (90) calendar days of entry of this Consent Order and provide
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38.

39.

the same detailed information as described in Paragraph 36 for default judgment
proceedings determined to be related to any SCRA-protected servicemember from
November 22, 2011 to the date of this Consent Order. Based on the information
gathered by Defendants and DOJ’s independent investigation, DOJ shall evaluate
the determinations made by Capital One. In the event Defendants disagree with
DOJ’s determination, Defendants shall be afforded thirty (30) calendar days to
produce to DOJ evidence of compliance, which DOJ shall consider in good faith.
Defendants have acknowledged that their procedures for credit card default
judgments may not have been in compliance with Section 521 of the SCRA.
Defendants and DOJ have determined that it is impractical to identify all credit card
default judgments from July 15, 2006 to November 21, 2011, that were not in
compliance with Section 521. Accordingly, DOJ has agreed to permit the
independent consultant to identify all credit card default judgments obtained from
July 15, 2006 to November 21, 2011, within one hundred twenty (120) calendar
days of entry of this Consent Order, and Defendants will compensate all
servicemembers upon whom a credit card default judgment was taken during a
period of military service who execute the Release at Exhibit C-2 and the
Declaration at Exhibit C-5 by forgiving the total amount of the judgment, including
all post-judgment interest, and, providing the borrower an additional payment of
$750.

Where DOJ determines that a default judgment (other than a cfedit card default
judgment) taken from July 15, 2006, to the date of this Consent Order or a credit

card default judgment taken from November 22, 2011, to the date of this Consent
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40.

Order was obtained against an SCRA-protected servicemember during a period of
military service, Defendants shall compensate the borrowers (i.e., any individual(s)
who took out the loan or in whose name the Account was held) who execute the
Release at Exhibit C-2 and the Declaration at Exhibit C-5 by forgiving the total
amount of the judgment, including all post-judgment interest, by and providing the
borrower an additional payment of $750.

After DOJ’s determination, as provided in Paragraphs 36, 37, 38, and 39,
Defendants must notify each identified servicemember (using best efforts to locate
each person) by letter (usiﬂg Exhibit C-1 or a modified version mutually agreeable
to Defendants and DOJ) within forty-five (45) calendar days of DOJ’s evaluation.
Any letters returned with forwarding addresses must be mailed promptly to the
forwarding address. Defendants shall issue and mail cdmpensation checks no later
than twenty-one (21) calendar days after receipt of a signed Release at Exhibit C-2
and Declaration at Exhibit C-5 from the servicemember or co-borrower aggrieved
person. Every six (6) months for a period of two (2) years following entry of this
Consent Order, Defendants shall provide DOJ with an accounting of all releases
received, checks issued (including copies of issued checks), credit entries repaired
(as provided in Paragraph 65), and notifications without responses or that were
returned as undeliverable. Any uncashed checké will be reported by Capital One in

accordance with state unclaimed property laws.

26



D. Violations of Section 527 of the SCRA related to failing to limit interest rates to 6% on

SCRA-covered debt:

Identification

41.  Defendants have engaged the services of an independent consultant acceptable to

DOJ that has begun to review their servicing of their Accounts. The independent

consultant’s duties shall continue to include a review of:

a.

All mortgage loans,'* home equity loans, and commercial lending
accounts where a bbrrower submitted a request in writing for protection
under Section 527 of the SCRA and Defendants enrolled the account in
SCRA benefits from July 15, 2006 to November 21, 2011, to evaluate
whether Defendants complied with Section 527 of the‘SCRA;

A representative sample of credit card accounts, motor vehicle finance
loans, and consumer loans and lines of credit where a borrower submitted
a request in writing for protection under Section 527 of the SCRA and
Defendants enrolled the account in SCRA benefits from July 15, 2006 to
Novémber 21, 2011, to evaluate whether Defendants complied with
Section 527 of the SCRA;

All Accounts‘ where a borrower submitted a request in writing for
protection under Section 527 of the SCRA from July 15, 2006 to
November 21, 2011, but benefits under Section 527 were not provided, to

evaluate whether Defendanfs complied with Section 527 of the SCRA; and

1% For Paragraphs 41(a), 41(c), 44, 59, 61, and 63, to the extent records are available, the
independent consultant will also review a sample of mortgage loan account notes, including call
notes, for borrowers’ statements relating to the SCRA and provide its results to DOJ. DOJ shall
then review those results and may decide to require a broader review of such accounts.
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42,

43.

d. All Accounts previously identified and remediated by Capital One in
September/October 2010 and November 2011.

DOIJ has approved the independent consultant’s methodology. Any changes to that
methodology must be submitted to DOJ for approval within sixty (60) calendar
days after entry of this Consent Order. DOJ’s approval of any changes to the
methodology will be based on, among other things, DOJ’s evaluation of
Defendants’ SCRA policies in and around the time period in question, Defendants’
search capabilities for determining which individuals requested, in writing, interest
rate protections based on their military status, the servicing platform, and the
number of individuals who requested such protection.

For any accounts identified in:

a. Paragraphs 41(a) and (b), the independent consultant shall submit any
results not previously provided to DOJ within sixty (60) calendar days
from the date of entry of this Consent Order and provide a representative
samble of accounts identified as involving SCRA-protected
servicemembers;

b. Paragraph 4'1 (c), the independent consultant shall submit any results not
previously provided to DOJ within one hundred twenty (120) calendar
days from the date of entry of this Consent Order and provide all accounts
identified as involving SCRA-protected servicemembers; and

c. Paragraph 41(d), the independent consultant shall submit any results not

previously provided to DOJ within sixty (60) calendar days from the date
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of entry of this Consent Order and provide all accounts identified as

involving SCRA-protected servicemembers.
Based on the information gathered by the independent consultant, information
submitted by Defendants, and DOJ’s independent investigation, DOJ shall
evaluate the determinations made by the independent consultant on the above-
described accounts reasonably based on the information it has received and its
investigative conclusions. In the event Defendants disagree with DOJ’s
determination, Defendants shall be afforded thirty (30) calendar days to produce
evidence of compliance to DOJ, which DOJ shall consider in good faith.

44,  Using the methodologies developed by the independent consultant, Defendants will
review all Accounts from November 22, 2011, to the date of entry of this Consent
Order, where a borrower submitted a request in writing for protections under
section 527 of the SCRA, to evaluate whether the Defendants complied with
Section 527 of the SCRA. Defendants shall submit all results within ninety (90)
calendar days of entry of this Consent Order and provide the same detailed
information as described in Paragraphs 41 and 43. Based on the information
gathered by Defendants and DOJ ’é independent investigation, DOJ shall evaluate
the determinations made by Capital One. In the event Defendants disagree with
DOJ’s determination, Defendants shall be afforded thirty (30) calendar days to

produce to DOJ evidence of compliance, which DOJ shall consider in good faith.

Remediation

45.  Where DOJ determines that any mortgage loan, home equity loan, and/or

commercial lending Account was provided benefits but the benefits were not
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46.

47.

. 48.

calculated in compliance with Section 527 of the SCRA, as identified in Paragraph
41(a) and/or Paragraph 44, Defendants shall refund with interest (as calculated
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961), all interest and fees charged above 6%,"> and
provide to the borrower who executes the Release at Exhibit C-2 an additional
payment of $500 or triple the amount of the refund owed, whichever amount is
larger. 16

Where DOJ determines that a borrower submitted a request in writing for protection
under Section 527 for an Account, but protection under Section 527 was wrongfully
denied, as identified in Paragraph 41(c) and/or Paragraph 44, Defendants shall
refund, with interest (és calculated pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961), all interest and
fees charged above 6%,'” and provide to the borrower who executes the Release at
Exhibit C-2 an additional payment of $500 or triple the amount of the refund owed,
whichever amount is larger.'®

For any of the Accounts previously identified and remediated by Capital One in
September/October 2010 and November 2011, as identified in Paragraph 41(d)
and/or Paragraph 44, Defendants shall provide an additional payment of $500 for
each of these accounts to the borrower who executes the Release at Exhibit C-2.
Excluding those Accounts specifically identified in Paragraphs 45, 46, and 47

Defendants have acknowledged that upon enrollment, their practices did not cause

'> This compensation shall be distributed equally among all co-borrowers (including non-
servicemember borrowers).
' The independent consultant shall calculate the amounts described in this Consent Order as part

of its review.

17 This compensation shall be distributed equally among all co-borrowers (including non-
servicemember borrowers).

'® The independent consultant shall calculate the amounts described in this Consent Order as part
of its review.
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the appropriate amount of benefits to be awarded to certain SCRA-protected
servicemembers. Defendahts and DOJ have determined that it is impractical to
identify all impacted servicemembers and to calculate all associated benefit
shortfalls for such servicemembers. Accordingly, Defendants have agreed to set
aside $5,000,000 for servicemembers who may not have received the appropriate
amount of benefits, provided that any amounts not paid to individual
servicemembers will be distributed by Defendants to one or more charitable
organizations that assist servicemembers. Wiﬁn thirty (30) calendar days of the
date of entry of this Consent Order, Defendants shall submit to the United States a
proposal that provides for distribution of this additional $5,000,000. Within thirty
(30) days after approval by the United States, the parties shall submit a proposal for
the distribution of these funds to the Court and obtain the Court’s approval prior to
distribution of these funds. Defendants shall require each charitable organization to
submit to Defendants and the United States a detailed report on how funds are used
within one year after the funds ére distributed.

49.  Servicemembers shall receive separate compensation for each qualifying Account
held with Defendants.

50.  Incases where Defendants have already taken remedial actions with respect to an
Account that DOJ determines did not comply with Section 527 of the SCRA, DOJ
shall consider such remedial actions and adjust the compensation to be awarded to

the subject servicemember, borrower, or mortgagor.'

' In determining whether any compensation is due to any servicemember or co-borrower
pursuant to Paragraph 47, and, if so, the amount, DOJ will consider the timing of any remedial
actions and will credit any monetary compensation already provided to any servicemember or

31



51.

Upon DOJ’s determination of the servicemembérs or co-borrowers to be
compensated as identified according to Paragraphs 45, 46, and 47, Defendants must
notify each identified servicemember or co-borrower (using best efforts to locate
each person) by léuer (using Exhibit C-1 or a modified version mutually agreeable
to Defendants and DOJ) within sixty (60) calendar days of DOJ’s confirmation.
Any letters returned with forwarding addresses must be promptly mailed to the
forwarding address. Defendants shall issue and mail compensation checks no later
than twenty-one (21) calendar days after receipt of a signed Release at Exhibit C-2
from the servicemember or co-borrower aggrieved person. Every six (6) months for
a period of two (2) years following entry of this Consent Order, Defendants shall
provide DOJ with an accounting of all releases received, checks issued (including
copies of issued checks), credit entries repaired (as provided in Paragraph 65), and
notifications without responses or that were returned as undeliverable. Any
uncashed checks will be reported by Capital One in accordance with state

unclaimed property laws.

E. Judicial review of DOJ determinations:

52.

Defendants shall have thirty (30) calendar days after DOJ’s final determination that
a foreclosure, motor vehicle repossession, or default judgment was not in
compliance with the SCRA or a mortgage, motor vehicle financing loan, credit card
account, home equity loan, consumer loan, line of credit loan, or commercial
lending account was not serviced in compliance with Section 527, to seek judicial

review on the ground that DOJ made a clearly erroneous factual determination.

co-borrower for alleged compliance issues pursuant to Section 527 of the SCRA and arising from
the same Account. '
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VI. COMPENSATION FOR HSBC ACCOUNTS AND ING ACCOUNTS

A. Violations of Sections 533 and 521 of the SCRA related to completed foreclosures on SCRA-

protected servicemembers:

53.  Defendants will engage an independent consultant acceptable to DOJ whose duties
shall include a review of all completed foreclosures on ING Accounts from July 15,
2006, to the date of this Consent.Order, to evaluate whether the completed
foreclosures were in compliance with Sections 533 and 521 of the SCRA. The
independent consultant shall submit the results of its review within one hundred -
eighty (180) calendar days of entry of this Consent Order and pfovide detailed
information on the borrowers’ periods of military service, dates of foreclosure, and
Defendants’ records (if applicable) for foreclosures determined to be related to any
SCRA-protected servicemember from July 15, 2006, to the date of this Consent
Order. Based on the information gathered by the independent consultant,
information submitted by Defendants, and DOJ’s independent investigation, DOJ
shall evaluate the determinations. made by the independent consultant. In the event
Defendants disagree with DOJ’s determination, Defendants shall be afforded thirty
(30) calendar days to produce to DOJ evidence of compliance, which DOJ shall
consider in good faith.

54,  If violations of Sections 533 or 521 of the SCRA are found with respect to ING
Accounts, Capital One shall remediate the violations related to foreclosures in the
manner described in Paragraphs 28, 29, and 30, above.

B. Violations of Section 532 of the SCRA relating to repossessions of non-recreational and

recreational motor vehicles:
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55.

56.

Defendants will engage an independent consultant acceptable to DOJ whose duties
shall include a review of all repossessions on certain HSBC Accounts either
completed or in progress from July 15, 2006, to the date of this Consent Order, to
evaluate whether the repossessions were in compliance with Section 532 of the
SCRA. The independent consultant shall submit the results of its review within one
hundred eighty (180) calendar days of entry of this Consent Order and provide
detailed information on the borrowers’ periods of military service, dates of
repossessions, and Defendants’ records (if applicable) for all repossessions related
to SCRA-protected servicemembers from July 15, 2006, to the date of this Consent
Order. Based on the information gathered by the independent consultant,
information submitted by Defendants, and DOJ’s independent investigation, DOJ
shall evaluate the determinations made by the independent consultant. In the event
Defendants disagree with DOJ’s determination, Defendants shall be afforded thirty
(30) calendar days to produce evidence of compliance to DOJ, which DOJ shall
consider in good faith.
If violations of Section 532 of the SCRA are found with respect to HSBC Accounts,
Capital One shall remediate the violations: |

a. related to recreational motor vehicles (including but not limited to all-

terrain vehicles, boats, golf carts, jet skis, off-road motorcycles,
snowmobiles, or utility vehicles) as follows:
(1) an amount of $3,500 to the servicemember-borrower;
(2) any lost equity in the repossessed recreational motor vehicle, as

calculated by: subtracting any outstanding principal, interest, and
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other amounts owing by the borrowers (excluding any fees
associated with repossession), plus any liens at the time of
repossession and any disbursements made to the servicemember or
a third party other than a lien holder from the proceeds of the
repossession sale (exclusiﬁe of any fees associated with the
repossession) from the market value of the recreational vehicle at
the time of repossession; and

(3) interest accrued on this lost equity, calculated from the date of
the repossession sale until the date payment is issued, at the rate set
forth in 28 U.S.C. § 1961; and

(4) in accordance with the provisions in Paragraphs 34 and 35,

above.

related to automobiles and motorcycles not used solely for recreation in

the manner described in Paragraphs 33, 34, and 35, above.

C. Violations of Section 521 of the SCRA relating to default judgments for debts owed on credit

cards, motor vehicle financing loans, home equity loans. consumer loans and lines of credit,

and/or commercial lending accounts:

57.

Defendants will engage an independent consultant acceptable to DOJ whose duties
shall include a review of either all or a representative sample of default judgments
obtained on HSBC Accounts and ING Accounts from July 15, 2006, to the date of
this Consent Order, to evaluate whether the judgments. were and/or are in
compliance with Section 521 of the SCRA. The independent consultant shall

submit the results of its review within one hundred eighty (180) calendar days of
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58.

entry of this Consent Order and provide detailed information on the borrowers’
periods of military sérvice, dates of judgments, and Defendants’ records (if
applicable) for a representative sample of judgments related to SCRA-protected
servicemembers during the respective time periods. Based on the information
gathered by the independent consultant, information submitted by Defendants, and
DOJ’s independent investigation, DOJ shall evaluate the deteminations made by
the independent consultant on either the representative sample or all accounts. In
the event Defendants disagree with DOJ’s determination, Defendants shall be
afforded thirty (30) calendar days to produce evidence of compliance to DOJ, which
DO)J shall consider in good faith.

If violations of Section 521 of the SCRA are found with respect to HSBC Accounts
or ING Accounts, Capital One shall remgdiate the violations in the manner

described in Paragraphs 39 and 40, above.

D. Violations of Section 527 of the SCRA related to failing to limit interest rates to 6% on

SCRA-covered debt:

59.

Defendants will engage an independent consultant acceptable to DOJ whose duties
shall include a review of either all or a representative sample of HSBC Accounts
and ING Accounts where a borrower submitted a request in writing for protection
under Section 527 of the SCRA from July 15, 2006, to the date of this Consent
Order, to evaluate whether the benefits provided complied with Section 527 of the
SCRA. The independent consultant shall submit the results of its review within one

hundred eighty (180) calendar days after the entry of the Consent Order.
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60.

61.

62.

DOJ has approved the independent consultant’s methodology. Any changes to that -
methodology must be submitted to DOJ for approx;al within sixty (60) calendar
days after entry of this Consent Order. DOJ’s approval of any changes to the A
methodology will be based on, among other things, DOJ’s evaluation of
Defendants’ SCRA policies in and around the time period in question; Defendants’
search capabilities for determining which individuals requested, in writing, interest
rate protections based on their military status; the servicing platform; and the '
number of individuals who requested such protection.

If violations of Section 527 of the SCRA are found with respect to HSBC Accounts
or ING Accounts where a borrower submitted a request in writing for protection
under Section 527 of the SCRA from July 15, 2006, to the date of this Consent

Order, but benefits were not provided, Capital One shall remediate the violations in
the manner described in Paragraphs 46, 49, 50, and 51, above.

If violations of Section 527 of the SCRA are found with respect to HSBC Accounts
where borrowers submitted a request in writing for protection under Section 527 of
the SCRA, the accounts were enrolled from July 15, 2006, to the date of entry of
this Consent Order, the accounts may not have been awarded the appropriate
amount of benefits, and it is impractical to identify all impacted servicemembers,
Capital One shall remediate the violations in a manner similar to that described in
Paragraph 48, 50, and 51, above, with additional contribution(s) proportionate to the
amount provided for in Paragraph 48 and with the same selection and approval

procedures provided for in Paragraph 48.
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63.

If violations of Section 527 of the SCRA are found with respect to ING Accounts
where borrowers submitted a request in writing for protection under Section 527 of
the SCRA, the account was enrolled from July 15, 20()6, to the date of entry of this
Consent Order, and fhe account may not have been awarded the appropriate amount
of benefits, Capital One will remediate the violations in the manner described in

Paragraphs 45, 49, 50, and 51.

E. Judicial review of DOJ determinations:

64.

65.

With respect to the HSBC Accounts and ING Accounts, Defendants shall have
thirty (30) calendar days after DOJ’s final determination that a foreclosure, motor
vehicle repossession, or default judgment was not in compliance with the SCRA or
a mortgage, motor vehicle financing loan, credit card account, home equity loan,
consumer loan, line of credit loan, or commercial lending account was not serviced
in compliance with Section 527, to seek judicial review on the ground that DOJ |

made a clearly erroneous factual determination.

VII. OTHER RELIEF
Concurrent with providing financial compensation to the servicemember-borrower,
Defendants must request that all three (3) major credit bureaus delete trade lines for
wrongful judicial foreclosures and default judgments, and delete negative credit
entries for wrongful repossessions and interest overcharges that are specifically
attributable to the wrongful repossession or iﬁterest overcharge, to correct the credit
histories of accounts belonging to servicemember(s) and any co-borrower(s).

Further, Defendants shall not pursue, and must indemnify the servicemember and
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66.

67.

68.

his or her co-borrower(s) against any third-party pursuing, any deficiency that was
remaining on either the servicemember’s SCRA-protected mortgage or junior lien
after a foreclosure or auto loan after a repossession, where the foreclosure or
repossession was completed in violation of the SCRA.
VIII. CIVIL PENALTY

Within thirty (30) calendar days of the date of entry of this Consent Order,
Defendants shall pay a total of Fifty-Five Thousand Dollars ($55,000) to the United
States Treasury as a civil penalty pursuant to 50 U.S.C. App. § 597(b)(3) to
vindicate the public interest. The payment shall be in the form of an electronic
funds transfer pursuant to written instructions to be provided by the United States.

IX. REPORTING AND RECORD-KEEPING REQUIREMENTS
For the duration of this Consent Order, Defendants shall: 1) retain all records
relating to their obligatibns hereunder, including their records with respect to any
Accounts for which a servicemember sought or seeks a reduced interest rate
pursuant to the SCRA, whether or not that request is granted by Capital One; and 2)
all records involving home foreclosure, motor vehicle repossession actions, and
other court actions involving default judgments that involve servicemembers, as
well as their records relating to compliance activities as set forth herein. The
United States shall have the right to review and copy any such records, including
electronic data, upon reaéonable request, during the period of this Consent Order.
During the term of this Consent Order, Defendants shall notify counsel for the
United States in writing every six (6) months of receipt of any SCRA or military-

related complaint captured through the Capital One’s official complaint process,
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69.

‘which includes written and oral complaints. Defendants shall provide a copy of any

written complaints with the notifications. Defendants will incorporate into their

SCRA Policies and Procedures a requirement that all customer service personnel,

~ upon receiving any oral SCRA complaint involving Capital One relating to the

interest rate imposed on a credit card account, mortgage, motor vehicle financing
loan, home equity loan, consumer loan and/or line of credit, or commercial lending
account, shall notify individuals designated and trained to receive SCRA
complaints. For both written and verbal SCRA complaints, each notification to the
United States shall include the full details of the complaint, including the
complainant’s name, address, and telephone number. Defendants shall also
promptly provide the United States all non-privileged information it may request
concerning any such complaint and shall inform the United States in writing within
thirty (30) calendar days of the terms of any resolution of such complaint. If the
United States raises any objections to Defendants’ actions, the parties shall meet
ana confer to consider appropriate steps to address the concerns raised by the
United States’ review. If the parties are unable to come to an agreement regarding
such objections or concerns, either party may bring the dispute to this Court for
resolution.

X. SCOPE OF CONSENT ORDER
The provisions of this Consent Order shall apply to Defendants, their officers,
employees, agents, representatives, assigns, successors-in-interest, and all persons

and entities in active concert or participation with Defendants, including with
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respect to any accounts or loans Defendants acquired from July 15, 2006 to the date
of entry of this Consent Order.

70.  This Consent Order shall also be binding on affiliated successor entities and
independent third party entities to the extent described in this Paragraph for the term
of this Consent Order. In the event that Defendants seek to transfer or assign all or
part of their operations following entry of this Consent Order to an affiliated
successor entity, and the affiliated successor entity intends to carry on the same or
similar business, Defendants shall, as a condition of the transfer or assignment,
obtain the written agreement of the affiliated successor entity to be bound by any
obligations remaining under this Consent Order for the remaining term of this
Order. In the event that the Defendants seek to transfer or assign all or part of their
operations following the entry of this Consent Order to an affiliated successor entity
or independent third party entity who does not intend to carry on the same or similar
business, Defendants shall, as a condition of transfer or assignment, either: (i)
require the affiliated successor or independent third party entity to be bound by the
obligations remaining under this Consent Order with respect to all SCRA eligible
servicemembers, or (ii) retain all obligations to comply with this Consent Order
with respect to all SCRA-eligible servicemembers. In the event that the Defendants
seek to transfer or assign all or part of their operations following entry of this
Consent Order to an independent third party who intends to carry on the same or
similar business, Defendants shall, as a condition of the transfer or assignment,

either: (i) require the independent third party to be bound by any obligations

2% For purposes of this Paragraph, the requirements relating to the transfer or assignment of
“operations” does not include the transfer or assignment of servicing rights to an independent

third party.
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71.

remaining under this Consent Order for the remaining term of this Consent Order,
or (ii) retain all obligations to comply with this Consent Order with respect to all
SCRA-eligible servicemembers, for the remaining term of the Consent Order.
This Consent Order does not release claims for practices not addressed in the
Complaint’s allegations, including claims that may be held or are currently under
investigation by any federal agency, or any claims that may be pursued for actions
that may be taken by any executive agency established by 12 U.S.C. § 5491 or the
appropriate Federal Banking Agency (FBA), as defined in 12 U.S.C. § 1813(q),
against Capital One, any of their affiliated entities, and/or any institution-affiliated
party of Capital One, as defined by 12 U.S.C. § 1818 or any other statute or
regulation. This Consent Order does not resolve and release claims other than

claims for violation of the SCRA.

XI. MODIFICATIONS, ATTORNEY’S FEES AND COSTS, AND REMEDIES FOR

72.

73.

74.

NON-COMPLIANCE

Any time limits for performance imposed by this Consenf Order may be extended
by the mutual written agreement of the parties.

The parties to this Consent Order shall be responsible for their own attorney’s fees
and court costs, except as provided for in Paragraph 74, below.

The parties to this Consent Order shall endeavbr in good faith to resolve informally
any differences regarding the interpretation of and compliance with this Consent
Order prior to bringing such matters to the Court for resolution. However, in the
event the United States contends that there has been a failure by Defendants,

whether willful or otherwise, to perform in a timely manner any act required by this
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73.

Consent Order or otherwise comply with any provision thereof, the United States
may move the Court to impose any remedy authorized by law or equity, including,
but not limited to, an order requiring the performance of such act or deeming such
act to have been performed, and an award of any damages, costs, and attorney’s
fees which may have been occasioned by Defendants’ violation or failure to
perform.

XII. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION
This Consent Order shall terminate three (3) months after the submission of the
Defendants’ seventh semi-annual report due under Paragraph 68 to the United
States, except that if all the actions required by Paragraphs 15 through 65 have not
been completed, Paragraphs 15 through 65 and this Consent Order will continue in
effect for an additional six months. Notwithstanding the above, The Court shall
retain jurisdiction for the duration of this Consent Order to enforce its terms, after
which time this case shall be dismissed with prejudice. The United States may
move the Court to extend the duration of the Consent Order in the interests of

justice.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

This day of ,20_

UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE
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Respectfully submitted by:

FOR THE UNITED STATES:

NEIL H. MACBRIDE
United States Attorney
Eastern District of Virginia

el Widottahh

KEVIN J. MIKOLASHEK
Assistant United States Attorney
United States Attorney’s Office
Eastern District of Virginia
2100 Jamieson Avenue
Alexandria, VA 22314

Tel.: (703) 299-3809

Fax: (703) 299-3983

E-mail: Kevin.Mikolashek@usdoj.gov

Attorney for Plaintiff United States
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FOR DEFENDANTS:

By:

BRYAN A. FRATKIN

RICHARD CULLEN

J. WILLIAM BOLAND

BRYAN A. FRATKIN

EVAN ELIZABETH MILLER

MYRA H. CHAPMAN

McGuireWoods LLP

One James Center

901 East Cary Street

Richmond, Virginia 23219

Tel.: (804) 775-1000

Fax: (804) 775-1061

E-mail: rcullen@mcguirewoods.com
E-mail: wboland@mcguirewoods.com
E-mail: bfratkin@mcguirewoods.com
E-mail: emiller@mcguirewoods.com
E-mail: mchapman@mcguirewoods.com
Counsel for Defendants Capital One Bank (USA), N.A.
and Capital One, N.A. '

45



EXHIBIT A-1
PROPOSED NOTICE AND WAIVER

IMPORTANT NOTICE AFFECTING MILITARY SERVICEMEMBERS

WAIVER OF RIGHTS AND PROTECTIONS AFFORDED UNDER THE
SERVICEMEMBERS CIVIL RELIEF ACT

Attached to this notice you will find a waiver of rights and protections that may be applicable to
you and your dependents pursuant to the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act, 50 App. U.S.C. §
501, et seq. (the “SCRA”). The SCRA provides military personnel and their dependents with a
wide range of legal and financial protections. Among other benefits and protections, the SCRA:

e Upon request by the servicemember, imposes a maximum rate of interest that may be
charged during military service on debt obligations incurred by an eligible
servicemember before the servicemember began his or her current military service;

e May restrict orprohibit the sale, foreclosure, or seizure of real estate pursuant to a pre-
service debt obligation, except where the lender has obtained a valid court order
approving the sale, foreclosure, or seizure of the real estate;

e May, in a court action, give the servicemember the right to postpone the case under
certain conditions;

e May, in a court action, give the servicemember the right to have the terms of the
mortgage obligation adjusted under certain conditions; and

e May prohibit the repossession of a motor vehicle without a court order.

[Foreclosures: Judicial State / Non-Judicial State Paragraph - Insert Applicable Paragfaphl

[Judicial State] If you choose to sign the attached waiver, Capital One will have the option to
proceed with a foreclosure, sale and/ or seizure of your property without the protections of the
SCRA. If you do not sign this waiver, Capital One will be required to provide you the
protections of the SCRA, if you incurred your debt before you went into military service. Under
the SCRA, you may also be able to seek a postponement of any foreclosure and an adjustment of
your mortgage obligation. Additionally, the court should take steps to ensure that a judgment is
not entered against you if you are unable to appear.

[Non-Judicial State] If you choose to sign the attached waiver, Capital One will have the option
to proceed with a foreclosure, sale and/or seizure of your property without going to court. If you
do not sign this waiver, Capital One will be required to obtain a court order in order to
foreclose, if you incurred your debt before you went into military service. Under the SCRA,
you may also be able to seek a postponement of any foreclosure and an adjustment of your
mortgage obligation. Additionally, the court should take steps to ensure that a judgment is not
entered against you if you are unable to appear.
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As an alternative to foreclosure, Capital One may offer its borrowers the options of pursuing a
short sale of their property or executing a deed in lieu of foreclosure. Borrowers in default may
find these options to be preferable to foreclosure. Any negotiation for a short sale or deed in lieu
of foreclosure is not a threat of current or future litigation, and should not be considered as such.

[Repossessions]

If you choose to sign the attached waiver, Capital One will have the option to proceed with a
repossession of your real or personal property without the protections of the SCRA. If you do
not sign this waiver, Capital One will be required to provide you the protections of the SCRA if
you incurred your debt and made at least one payment on the debt before you went into military
service. Additionally, the court may: 1) take steps to ensure that a judgment is not entered
against you if you are unable to appear; 2) order repayment of all or part of the prior installments
or deposits as a condition of terminating the contract and resuming possession of your property;
 or 3) may stay any court proceedings for a period of time when justice and equity require.

[Default Judgments]

If you choose to sign the attached waiver, Capital One will have the option to proceed with a
default judgment without the protections of the SCRA. If you do not sign this waiver, Capital
One will be required to provide you the protections of the SCRA. Additionally, the court may
postpone any default judgment proceedings.

Before waiving these important statutory rights, you should consult an attorney regarding
how best to exercise your rights or whether it is in your interest to waive these rights under
the conditions offered by Capital One.

For More Information:

e CONSULT AN ATTORNEY: To fully understand your rights under the law, and before
waiving your rights, you should consult an attorney.

o JAG/LEGAL ASSISTANCE: Servicemembers and their dependents with questions
about the SCRA should contact their unit’s Judge Advocate, or their installation’s Legal
Assistance Officer. A military legal assistance office locator for all branches of the
Armed Forces is available at http://legalassistance.law.af.mil/content/locator.php.

e MILITARY ONESOURCE: “Military OneSource” is the U.S. Department of Defense’s
information resource. To visit Military OneSource go to www.militaryonesource.com.

47



EXHIBIT A-2

VOLUNTARY SURRENDER (Under Servicemembers Civil Relief Act)

Customer Name: To: Capital One Auto Finance
Account No.: , Contact Person:

Telephone No.:

Fax No.:

Vehicle Year, Make, Model (Collateral):
VIN:

1. You acknowledge default of your loan with Capital One Auto Finance (“COAF”). Asa
result of your default, you have chosen to voluntarily surrender possession of the Collateral
to COAF. You represent that you have had an opportunity to consult an attorney and that
you understand that you have certain rights under the Servicernembers Civil Relief Act
(“SCRA”), one of which is the right to a court hearing prior to repossession. You agree to
give up and waive your right to a court hearing and you affirm that your voluntary surrender
of the collateral is not pursuant to a threat or a demand or a request that the vehicle be
surrendered.

2. You permit us to sell the Collateral at public or private sale, and to grant us a possessory
security interest in the Collateral to secure your loan and any other amounts that you may
owe us. By voluntarily surrendering the Collateral, you agree and understand that COAF is
not waiving its right to collect any deficiency balance that may exist after disposition of the
Collateral.

3. You hereby assign and transfer to us any of your right, title, and interest in any rebates for
any unearned premiums for credit life or credit disability insurance or any extended warranty
program whatever relating to the Collateral. This assignment shall not apply to unearned
premiums of liability or comprehensive insurance if purchased by the undersigned.

4. You acknowledge and agree that this voluntary surrender is not given as a preference against
any other creditor of yours; that there is no other person or persons, firm or corporation, other
than you and COAF that holds an ownership or security interest either directly or indirectly,
in this Collateral; that you are solvent and have no other creditors whose rights would be
prejudiced by this voluntary surrender.

Signed this day of , 2012.

State of ,
County of . s

Sworn to and subscribed before me, the undersigned Notary Public, for the state of

onthe  dayof ,20__by who is
personally known to me or satisfactorily proved to me to be the person whose name is subscribed
to the within instrument.
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GIVEN under my hand and seal this

day of

49

, 20

Notary Public
State of

Commission Expires:



EXHIBIT B

EMPLOYEE ACKNOWLEDGMENT

I acknowledge that on ,20__, I was provided training regarding
SCRA compliance, a copy of the Consent Order entered by the Court in United States v. Capital
One, N.A., et al., Case No. (E.D. Va.), and copies of Capital One’s SCRA

Policies and Procedures which are applicable to my duties. I have read and understand these
documents and have had my questions about these documents and the SCRA answered. [
understand my legal responsibilities and shall comply with those responsibilities.

[PRINT NAME]

[SIGNATURE]

[JOB TITLE]
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EXHIBIT C-1

. NOTICE, PROPOSED RELEASE, AND DECLARATION
Dear Capital One Customer:

Capital One recently entered into a settlement with the United States Department of
Justice regarding alleged violations of the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act (“SCRA”). In
connection with this settlement, you have been identified as a person who may be eligible or may
have been eligible for SCRA benefits with respect to your account/loan.

Please carefully read and complete the enclosed declaration. Once complete, please sign
and return to us the enclosed release and declaration in the postage paid envelope. After we
receive these documents, we will review your account/loan. You will receive a response either
in the form of a check or a letter explaining why you are not eligible for additional benefits under
the SCRA.

You should be aware that the money you are eligible to receive may have consequences
with respect to your federal, state, or local tax liability, as well as eligibility for any public
assistance benefits you may receive. Neither Capital One nor the Department of Justice can
advise you on tax liability or any effect on public assistance benefits. You may wish to consult
with a qualified individual or organization about any possible tax or other consequences resulting
from your receipt of this payment.

If you have any questions concerning the declaration, release, or settlement, please
contact [INSERT NUMBER HERE].

We deeply appreciate your service to our country. We are committed to serving the
financial needs of our customers who serve in the military, and we regret any error that may have
occurred on your account.

Sincerely, .

Capital One

Enclosures
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EXHIBIT C-2
RELEASE

In consideration for the parties’ agreement to the terms of the Consent Order entered in
United States v. Capital One, N.A., et al., Case No. (E.D. Va.), and Capital One’s
payment to me of $ , pursuant to the Consent Order, I hereby release and forever
discharge all claims, arising prior to the date of this Release, related to the facts at issue in the
litigation referenced above and related to the alleged violations of Section [SECTION]
of the Servicemembers Civil Relief Act, that I may have against Capital One, all related entities,
parents, predecessors, successors, subsidiaries, and affiliates, and all of its past and present
directors, officers, agents, managers, supervisors, shareholders, and employees and its heirs,
executors, administrators, successors or assigns.

Executed this day of , 20

[PRINT NAME]

[SIGNATURE]

[JOB TITLE]
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EXHIBIT C-3

DECLARATION FOR FORECLOSURES

I, [INSERT NAME], do hereby declare and state as follows:

1.

2.

I owned property at [ADDRESS, CITY, STATE, ZIP] that went to foreclosure.

I executed the note and mortgage and/or deed of trust for the above property on or
about [LOAN ORIGINATION DATE].

On or about [FORECLOSURE DATE], I WAS either:

i. on a covered period of military service?'; OR
ii. within 9 months of the end of a covered period of military service; OR
iii. a member of a reserve component (Reserves or National Guard) and had

received orders to report for a covered period of military service.

Please consider the following additional information in support of this
Declaration:

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on

SIGNATURE:

PRINT NAME:

2! Please see the attached Appendix Regarding Military Service for the definition of “covered
period of military service.”
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APPENDIX REGARDING MILITARY SERVICE

As used in this Declaration, a “covered period of military service” is either of the
following:

M For members of the U.S. armed forces (Army, Navy, Air Force, Marines, Coast
Guard), any active duty period; OR

(2)  For members of the National Guard, a period of active service that is either:

- pursuant to Title 10, or '

- authorized by the President or Secretary of Defense for a period of more
than 30 consecutive days under Title 32, Section 502(f), for purposes of
responding to a national emergency declared by the President and
supported by federal funds (i.e., Global War on Terrorism).

If you have any additional questions about whether your service constitutes a “covered period of
military service” for purposes of this declaration, please contact the Department of Justice at
202-514-4713.
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EXHIBIT C-4

DECLARATION FOR REPOSSESSIONS

I, [INSERT NAME], do hereby declare and state as follows:

1.

1 owned a vehicle obtained through a loan with Capital One, Loan Number
[LOAN NUMBER] that was repossessed.

I obtained the loan on or about [LOAN ORIGINATION DATE].

I made my first installment payment for this loan on.or about [FIRST PAYMENT
DATE]. '

On or about [REPOSSESSION DATE], I WAS either:
i. on a covered period of military service’’; OR

ii. a member of a reserve component (Reserves or National Guard) and had
received orders to report for a covered period of military service.

Please consider the following additional information in support of this
Declaration:

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on

SIGNATURE:

PRINT NAME:

22 Please see the attached Appendix Regarding Military Service for the definition of “covered
period of military service.”
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APPENDIX REGARDING MILITARY SERVICE

As used in this Declaration, a “covered period of military service” is either of the
following:

(1)  For members of the U.S. armed forces (Army, Navy, Air Force, Marines, Coast
Guard), any active duty period; OR

(2)  For members of the National Guard, a period of active service that is either:

- pursuant to Title 10, or -

- authorized by the President or Secretary of Defense for a period of more
than 30 consecutive days under Title 32, Section 502(f), for purposes of
responding to a national emergency declared by the President and
supported by federal funds (i.e., Global War on Terrorism).

If you have any additional questions about whether your service constitutes a “covered period of
military service” for purposes of this declaration, please contact the Department of Justice at
202-514-4713.
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EXHIBIT C-5
DECLARATION FOR DEFAULT JUDGMENTS
I, [INSERT NAME], do hereby declare and state as follows:

1. I was a defendant in a civil proceeding involving a debt owed to Capital One and
a default judgment was entered against me in this proceeding.

2. On or about [JUDGMENT DATE], I WAS either:
i. on a covered period of military service®; OR

ii. a member of a reserve component (Reserves or National Guard) and had
received orders to report for a covered period of military service.

3. Please consider the following additional information in support of this
Declaration:

I declare under penalty of perjury that the foregoing is true and correct.

Executed on

SIGNATURE:

PRINT NAME:

2 Please see the attached Appendix Regarding Military Service for the definition of “covered
period of military service.”
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APPENDIX REGARDING MILITARY SERVICE

As used in this Declaration, a “covered period of military service” is either of the
following:

(D For members of the U.S. armed forces (Army, Navy, Air Force, Marines, Coast
Guard), any active duty period; OR

(2)  For members of the National Guard, a period of active service that is either:
- pursuant to Title 10, or
- authorized by the President or Secretary of Defense for a period of more
than 30 consecutive days under Title 32, Section 502(f), for purposes of
responding to a national emergency declared by the President and
supported by federal funds (i.e., Global War on Terrorism).

If you have any additional questions about whether your service constitutes a “covered period of
military service” for purposes of this declaration, please contact the Department of Justice at
202-514-4713. '
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